Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1828 (2013) 2801-2807

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta

ELSEVIER

CrossMark

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem

Review The site-2 protease $\stackrel{\text{\tiny}}{\sim}$

Robert B. Rawson *

Flower Mound, TX 75028, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 January 2013 Received in revised form 6 March 2013 Accepted 25 March 2013 Available online 6 April 2013

Keywords: ER stress Regulated intramembrane proteolysis Rip Site-2 protease S2P SREBP

Contents

ABSTRACT

The site-2 protease (S2P) is an unusually-hydrophobic integral membrane protease. It cleaves its substrates, which are membrane-bound transcription factors, within membrane-spanning helices. Although structural information for S2P from animals is lacking, the available data suggest that cleavage may occur at or within the lipid bilayer. In mammalian cells, S2P is essential owing to its activation of the sterol regulatory element binding proteins (SREBPs); in the absence of exogenous lipid, cells lacking S2P cannot survive. S2P is also important in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress response, activating several different membrane-bound transcription factors. Human patients harboring reduction-of-function mutations in S2P exhibit an array of pathologies ranging from skin defects to neurological abnormalities. Surprisingly, *Drosophila melanogaster* lacking S2P are viable and fertile. This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Intramembrane Proteases.

1.	Introduction			
2.	S2P			
3.	Structural features of S2P			
4.	Substrate features			
5.	Biological roles for S2P			
	5.1. Lipid metabolism			
	5.2. The ER stress response			
	5.3. S2P in disease			
	5.4. When S2P is dispensable			
6.	Conclusions			
Acknowledgements				
References				

1. Introduction

The site-2 protease (S2P) holds a unique place in the field of intramembrane proteolysis. Prior to the identification of S2P, the notion that membrane-spanning helices might be cleaved within the plane of the membrane seemed almost heretical. Of course, if one considered the issue, mechanisms must exist to deal with helical portions of larger proteins left in the membrane by the action of sheddases or signal peptidase. Nevertheless, it seemed unnecessary to postulate proteases with

* Tel.: +1 469 235 6546.

E-mail address: rob.rawson@verizon.net.

active sites at or in the bilayer. When the S2P gene was cloned in 1997, new discoveries from the fields of Alzheimer's disease and cholesterol metabolism led some scientists to entertain this rather unorthodox hypothesis. Since the discovery of S2P, intramembrane proteolysis moved from being what was seemingly wild speculation to become a well-established mechanism for cellular signal transduction. This phenomenon is found in all kingdoms of life [1].

2. S2P

S2P was the first of the intramembrane-cleaving proteases (I-CLiPs; [2]) to be isolated [3]. In humans, S2P is a 519 amino acid protein encoded on the X chromosome. The sterol regulatory element

[☆] This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Intramembrane Proteases.

^{0005-2736/\$ -} see front matter © 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.03.031

binding proteins (SREBPs) are membrane-bound transcription factors responsible for feedback regulation of transcription of genes required for fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis and uptake. In mammals there are two related SREBP genes, encoding SREBP-1 and SREBP-2. They are synthesized as integral membrane proteins of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). The amino-terminal portion of SREBP contains the basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor domain while the carboxy terminal portion interacts with SREBP cleavage-activating protein (Scap), an escort factor. When cellular demand for lipid rises, SREBP:Scap complexes exit the ER via COP-II-coated vesicles and transit to the Golgi apparatus. In the Golgi, SREBPs are substrates for two different proteases, site-1 protease (S1P) and S2P. S1P is a membrane-bound serine protease with a luminally-disposed active site. It is related to other secretory pathway processing proteases such as furin and kexin. S1P cleaves SREBP within the short luminal loop between the first and second membrane-spanning helices. This cleavage creates a new carboxy-terminus for the transcription factor domain of SREBP. This is the substrate for S2P [4].

The isolation of S2P has been described in detail elsewhere [5]. Briefly, mutant M19 Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells are auxotrophic for cholesterol owing to inability to cleave SREBPs. In these cells, the membrane-bound intermediate form of SREBP, which is the product of S1P cleavage, accumulates [3]. This is because they harbor loss-offunction mutations in the gene encoding S2P. Complementation of the defect in these cells using human genomic DNA enabled isolation of the gene [3,6].

Certain families of metalloproteases are characterized by the presence of an His-Glu-(any amino acid)₂-His (HEXXH) motif that is involved in coordinating the active-site metal atom [7]. Although it exhibited no significant sequence similarity with any previously-reported protein, the presence of a His-Glu-Ile-Gly-His motif suggested that S2P might indeed be a protease.

Without an *in vitro* biochemical assay, data about the mechanism of intramembrane proteolysis by S2P remain indirect. In metalloproteases such as thermolysin, the histidines of the HEXXH motif help to coordinate the active-site zinc atom. The glutamate residue activates a water molecule that then makes the nucleophilic attack on the scissile bond. Other metalloproteases also contain an additional coordinating residue (such as Asp, Glu, His, or Tyr) at some distance in the linear sequence of the protein from the HEXXH motif. The Asp residue within the sequence L466DG in human S2P lies 291 residues after the H₁₇₁EIGH motif. This residue is required for S2P function and is likely to provide the additional coordinating bond for the active site metal atom [8].

Mutation of either His in the HEIGH sequence or of the aspartate of the LDG sequence eliminates the ability of an S2P cDNA to restore SREBP cleavage in S2P⁻ M19 cells [3,8]. Similarly, mutation of Glu₁₇₂ to Ala abolished cleavage of SREBPs in mutant cells. However, unlike other metalloproteases, S2P retains significant complementation activity when Glu₁₇₂ is replaced by Asp. The *Bacillus subtilis* SpoIVFB protein is an S2P-like metalloprotease. It cleaves membrane-localized Pro- σ K precursor protein to produce the mature and active transcription factor $\sigma(K)$, by removing an amino-terminal extension of 20 amino acids [9]. SpoIVFB likewise retains the ability to rescue mutants when an Asp residue is substituted for its active-site Glu [9]. These results from complementation assays, while indirect, provide the evidence that S2P is a protease. Accordingly, owing to its highly unusual sequence, S2P was placed in its own family of metalloproteases (MEROPS classification: clan MM, family M5A, peptidase M50.001).

Proteins related to S2P have been successfully assayed for proteolytic activity. Feng et al., [10] demonstrated proteolytic activity for an S2P homolog from *Methanocaldococcus jannaschii*. In *B. subtilis*, cleavage of Pro-oK by SpoIVFB releases oK to mediate the transcription of genes required during spore formation. Cleavage of Pro-oK *in vitro* by purified SpoIVFB requires zinc and, perhaps more interestingly, ATP [11]. While these prokaryotic homologs of S2P clearly are proteases, an *in vitro* assay for S2P from animals has not yet been reported.

3. Structural features of S2P

S2P is a hydrophobic protein with several putative membraneassociated or -embedded domains that are separated by distinct hydrophilic domains. These latter are accessible to the glycosylation machinery of the ER and Golgi [8]. Kinch et al., offer a model of S2P core domain topology (their Fig. 3) based on biochemical data and sequence comparisons [12].

In order for S2P to act, its substrate must first be cleaved by another protease [1]. Golgi localization of S2P was inferred from studies that demonstrated that initial cleavage of the substrate occurs in the Golgi apparatus [13,14]. Since S2P apparently cleaves its substrates immediately following this initial cleavage, the parsimonious hypothesis was that S2P is also in the Golgi. Studies of over-expressed, epitope-tagged S2P supported this notion [15]. We conducted immunolocalization studies in Chinese hamster ovary cells. These experiments provided direct evidence that the Site-1 protease (S1P) and S2P colocalize to the Golgi apparatus in human and hamster cells [5].

S2P is distinguished from soluble proteases by its notable hydrophobicity, especially of the residues around the HEXXH motif. The hydrophobic nature of its active-site region is consistent with the character of S2P substrates, which are hydrophobic membrane-spanning helices.

Conservation of sequence motifs among S2P homologs from widely-divergent organisms suggests that these motifs are important for S2P function [12]. In addition to the metal-atom coordinating residues, S2P contains other intriguing features in its primary structure. For example, in humans, starting at residue 108, S2P contains a run of 29 residues of which 26 are Ser. In hamster, the corresponding sequence is shorter, having Ser at 18/19 positions and the hamster protein is only 510 amino acids long [3]. The variability of this motif is evident even among primates. Gorilla and chimpanzee S2Ps differ from the human sequence by the addition to this motif of 1 and 2 serines respectively. Thus, the precise length of this motif is unlikely to be important in S2P function. However, even in fruit flies, there is a run of 6/7 Ser at this position [16]. What function these residues serve, if any, is unknown.

Residues 258–446 include 12 conserved Cys residues and display sequence similarity to PDZ domains. Analysis of S2P-family sequences suggests a functional role for this feature [12]. The putative PDZ domain of S2P may be involved in the recognition and/or binding of the newly-generated carboxy-terminus of the substrate. This is created by cleavage of the precursor by S1P. Studies of mutant *Escherichia coli* indicate that the PDZ domains of the S2P homologue RseP are needed for its activity [17]. As with other hypotheses regarding the mechanism of S2P cleavage, direct biochemical data for the function of the putative PDZ domain in mammalian S2P are not available. Fig. 1 shows models for the predicted membrane topology of S2P and its SREBP substrate. The positions of the serine-rich region and the putative PDZ domain are also indicated [8,12]. Compare the S2P model to that of a rhomboid protease, which cleaves type 1 membrane proteins.

Many soluble or membrane-associated proteases, such as trypsin, caspases, or even S1P, are made as proenzymes or preproenzymes. These require the cleavage of an inhibitory portion of the protein prior to becoming active enzymes. No evidence suggests that S2P requires any posttranslational modification(s) for activation. S2P substrates share the unusual characteristics of being membrane-spanning helices with short carboxy termini projecting into an extra-cytosolic compartment. As noted above, these arise only once a precursor has been cleaved by another, more conventional protease such as S1P. This fact may serve to limit S2P activity sufficiently to prevent it from cleaving inappropriate substrates.

4. Substrate features

A major difficulty in understanding the mechanism of intramembrane proteolysis is the likelihood that hydrolysis occurs within the plane of the lipid bilayer, possibly near the surface [10]. The substrates known for S2P



Fig. 1. Intramembrane-cleaving proteases and their substrates. The diagram shows membrane topology of S2P, Rhomboid, and representative substrates (SREBP and Spitz, respectively). The topologies shown are based on [8,12] (S2P) and [64,65] (rhomboid) and references cited therein. The rectangular bar represents the lipid bilayer of the Golgi apparatus with the cytosolic and luminal faces indicated. White lettering indicates the relative positions of crucial catalytic residues in these enzymes. Membrane-spanning helices are depicted as shaded cylinders. For the substrates, arrows indicate the membrane orientation of the substrate helices (Type 1, up-arrow; type 2, down-arrow). Cleavage sites are shown by scissors. The S2P substrate, which is a type 2 membrane protein, is produced by an initial cleavage of the target protein by S1P. In SREBP, this occurs in the short luminal loop (scissors). By contrast with other families of I-CLiPs, rhomboid proteases do not require initial cleavage of their substrates by separate proteases [64]. Brackets show the positions of the serine-rich region (Ser) and putative PDZ domain (PDZ) in S2P. The transcription factor domain of SREBP is indicated by bZip. The regulatory domain is labeled Reg. N and C designate the amino- and carboxy-termini of the proteins shown.

are all membrane-bound transcription factors of the ER that require two-step cleavage for activation (Table 1). They each have at least one type 2 membrane-spanning helix (amino-terminus cytoplasmic, carboxy-terminus extra-cytoplasmic;) within which cleavage by S2P occurs (Fig. 1).

Ye et al., showed that an Asp-Pro motif in the middle of the first membrane-spanning helix of SREBP is important for its cleavage by S2P [18]. Replacement of either the Asn or Pro residue by itself does not abrogate cleavage. Replacement of the two residues together almost completely blocks cleavage by S2P. These substitutions do not interfere with the anchoring function of the membrane-spanning helix; they merely make it resistant to cleavage by S2P [18]. Ye et al., proposed that this motif serves as an amino-terminal cap for a portion of the membrane-spanning helix. Such capping enables the remainder of the helix to partially unwind, permitting S2P access to the scissile bond. Similar helix-destabilizing motifs are features of the substrates of other I-CLiPs such as the signal peptide peptidase aspartyl protease and rhomboid intramembrane serine proteases [19,20].

Extracting a hydrophobic membrane-spanning helix from the bilayer into the aqueous environment entails substantial thermodynamic costs. When only a portion of a helix is extracted, these costs are reduced. Polypeptide chains within the bilayer are predisposed to adopt alpha helical structures. Moreover, peptide bonds in an alpha helix are resistant to hydrolysis compared to those in a more extended conformation [21]. It seems likely, then, that partial unwinding of substrate helices into a more extended conformation may be a typical feature of intramembrane proteolysis.

Like other I-CLiPs, S2P, is a large protease (519 amino acids in human). While the 'core' structure of S2P-like proteases consists of four membrane-spanning helices [10], S2P itself includes additional membrane-associated helices whose function is unclear. These extra sequences may help S2P create a local environment within the bilayer, perhaps near one surface, where both helix unwinding and hydrolysis are thermodynamically-favorable. The crystal structure of the rhomboid family protease GlpG, suggests just such a situation [22,23]. This may be a general strategy for cleaving membrane-spanning helices [24]. As with other aspects of S2P mechanism of action, structural and enzymological data will be necessary to test this idea.

5. Biological roles for S2P

S2P-like proteins are found in all kingdoms of life, showing that they arose very early in evolution. The genomes of archea, and those of gram-positive and gram-negative eubacteria encode clearly homologous proteins [3,9]. Homologs are also found in green plants, where they are likewise involved in the activation of membrane-bound transcription factors [25,26]. In the human fungal pathogen *Cryptococcus neoformans*, Stp1 is a functionally conserved ortholog of the mammalian site-2 protease. It cleaves the *C. neoformans* SREBP ortholog Sre1 within its predicted first membrane-spanning helix [27].

In metazoans, S2Ps play crucial roles in signaling pathways involved in cellular processes such as lipid metabolism and the unfolded protein response. These processes are necessary if the organism is to survive in changing environments. Because they entirely lack S2P, CHO M19 cells are suitable for testing the ability of transfected S2P cDNAs to restore the second-site cleavage of substrates such as SREBP, ATF6 α , and CREBH. Such transfection–complementation experiments demonstrate that S2P is required for activation of these

Table 1

S2P substrates. Listed are mammalian proteins known or thought to be substrates for S2P because they are membrane-bound transcription factors that are substrates for S1P. Homologs of S1P, S2P and SREBP are also found in insects and other invertebrates.

Protein	Synonym	Membrane orientation	Function of released fragment	Process	Ref
SREBP-1a, c	ADD1	Туре 2	Transcription factor	Lipid metabolism	[1]
SREBP-2		Type 2	Transcription factor	Lipid metabolism	[1]
ATF6a		Type 2	Transcription factor	ER stress response	[1,28]
ATF6β	CREB-RP	Type 2	Transcription factor	ER stress response	
Luman	CREB3, LZIP	Type 2	Transcription factor	Dendritic cell activation	[49,60]
OASIS	CREB3L1	Type 2	Transcription factor	ER stress response	[50]
BBF2H7	CREB3L2	Type 2	Transcription factor		[45,46,61]
CREBH	CREB3L3	Type 2	Transcription factor	ER stress response	[29]
				Gluconeogenesis	
CREB4	AlbZIP, Tisp40, CREB3L4	Type 2	Transcription factor	ER stress response?	[62,63]

transcription factors [3,8,28,29]. Table 1 lists known and suspected S2P substrates and the pathways in which they participate.

5.1. Lipid metabolism

SREBPs are membrane-bound transcription factors that target genes needed for cholesterol uptake and synthesis as well as genes involved with fatty acid metabolism [30]. Vertebrates have two loci encoding SREBPs while other metazoans have a single SREBP gene. The role of S2P in activating SREBP is the same in all systems studied.

The SREBP precursor resides in the membranes of the endoplasmic reticulum. In mammals, increased cellular demand for cholesterol is signaled by alteration of the lipid composition of the ER membrane [31]. In response, the ~1150 amino acid precursor form of SREBP exits the ER *via* its inclusion in COPII vesicles and travels to the Golgi apparatus. There, it serves as the substrate for S1P (also termed SKI) [32,33]. A serine protease related to other secretases such as subtilisin and kexin, S1P is anchored to the Golgi membrane with its active site in the lumen.

S1P cleaves SREBP at a site within its luminal loop, which separates the two membrane spanning helices of the precursor. This produces two fragments which remain membrane-bound [34]. The amino-terminal fragment contains the SREBP transcription factor domain. This fragment is the substrate for S2P, which cleaves at a Leu–Cys bond within the membrane-spanning helix, near the cytoplasmic face of the bilayer [35]. This releases the transcription factor, enabling it to travel to the nucleus and increase the transcription of genes required for lipid synthesis. In the nucleus, SREBP is targeted for degradation by the ubiquitin–proteasome system. The half-life of nuclear SREBP is about 30 min [36]. As lipid accumulates, ER-to-Golgi transport of SREBP is blocked, thus halting production of the active transcription factor. This mechanism is the basis for the long-ago observed effect of cholesterol-feeding on the sup-pression of its own synthesis [37].

In cultured mammalian cells, S2P is an essential gene. In the absence of S2P, Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells require exogenous cholesterol to survive [3]. They also require mevalonate, and oleate [38] and exhibit reduced content of unsaturated fatty acids [39]. The original isolation of SRD-6 mutants, which lack S2P, did not determine a requirement for oleate [40]. This is because serum centrifugally-depleted of lipoproteins retains sufficient fatty acid to support the growth of these auxotrophic mutants. By contrast, lipid extraction of serum with organic solvents removes fatty acids in addition to those in lipoproteins and reveals fatty acid auxotrophy [41]. We tested whether the requirement of S2P⁻ cells for oleate was absolute or if other unsaturated fatty acids would support their survival. Fig. 2 shows the growth of wild-type and S2P⁻ cells in medium supplemented with cholesterol, mevalonate, and various fatty acids as indicated. Growth in the standard culture medium for cholesterol auxotrophic cells is shown on the left. The wild-type cells grow in all conditions tested. In medium containing delipidated serum, cells lacking S2P grow only in medium supplemented with an unsaturated fatty acid (oleate, linoleate, or arachidonate). Thus, S2P is essential in lipid metabolism for synthesis of cholesterol and unsaturated fatty acids owing to its role in SREBP activation.

5.2. The ER stress response

After SREBPs, the next S2P substrate identified was activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6). ATF6 is synthesized as a single-pass type 2 membrane-spanning protein embedded in the ER membrane [42]. The amino-terminal domain encodes a member of the basic-leucine zipper (bZip) transcription factor family and is disposed to the cytoplasm. Its carboxy-terminal domain of about 270 amino acids is luminal.

ATF6 is an ER stress sensor/transducer involved in all steps of the UPR, from initially sensing stress in the ER to the transcriptional activation of stress-responsive genes. It is one of a trio of proteins that are master regulators of the ER stress response. The other branches of the ER stress response are mediated by IRE1 (inositol requiring 1) and PERK (PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase) [43]. Each of these ultimately induces the transcription of stress-response genes when, for example, unfolded proteins accumulate in the ER.

The luminal domain of ATF6 interacts with immunoglobulin binding protein BiP (also known as glucose-regulated protein 78, Grp78), an endoplasmic reticulum chaperone [43]. In cells undergoing ER stress, BiP binds to unfolded proteins. When, unfolded proteins accumulate in the lumen of the ER, BiP dissociates from the luminal domain of ATF6 *via* an active mechanism [44] and ATF6 moves to the Golgi apparatus. There, it is cleaved first by S1P and then by S2P. Like SREBP, ATF6 also contains helix-breaking residues in its membrane-spanning domain. In this case, the Asn and Pro residues are separated by two amino acids. Again, substituting either residue alone has no discernible effect on cleavage. Simultaneously mutating the Asn to Phe and the Pro to Leu abolishes cleavage by S2P [18]. In cells lacking S2P, ATF6 is not activated and the ER stress response is attenuated [28].



Fig. 2. Unsaturated fatty acids other than oleate can support the growth of cells lacking S2P. Wild-type CHO-7 and S2P⁻ M19 cells were set up on day 0 at 3.5×10^5 cells/60 mm dish in a 1:1 mixture of Ham's F12 medium and Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 100 U/ml of penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin sulfate, 5 µg/ml cholesterol, 1 mM mevalonate, and 5% (v/v) fetal calf serum or delipidated serum [41] as indicated, along with 20 µM of the indicated fatty acid complexed to BSA [66]. On day 1, and every 1–2 days thereafter, the cells were refed with fresh medium. On day 14, the cells were washed with PBS, fixed in 95% ethanol, and stained with crystal violet.

In addition to ATF6, S2P is implicated in the activation of other transcription factors involved in the ER stress response (Table 1). These include BBF2 human homolog on chromosome 7 (BBF2H7), CREBH, Luman, and old astrocyte specifically induced substance (OASIS). These proteins each harbor the distinctive features of Rip substrates: ER localization, a cytoplasmic bZip domain, a predicted type 2 membrane-spanning helix, and a luminal cleavage site for S1P.

BBF2H7 is cleaved in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress [45,46] and may function in what the authors term the late phase of the response [45]. CREBH is a liver-specific, membrane-bound transcription factor related to ATF6. It undergoes intramembrane proteolysis in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress [29]. It also regulates gluconeogenesis [47]. Like SREBP, the nuclear form of CREBH is short-lived [48]. In addition to roles in the ER stress response in various tissues, Luman is also involved in dendritic cell activation [49]. OASIS, is another membrane-bound transcription factor believed to play a role in the endoplasmic reticulum stress response [50]. It is expressed at high levels in osteoblasts and plays a crucial role in the formation of bone [51].

5.3. S2P in disease

Mutations in human S2P (designated MBTPS2 for 'membrane-bound transcription factor peptidase, site 2' by the HUGO Gene Nomenclature Committee) are associated with disease. Oeffner et al., identified hypomorphic (reduction-of-function) mutations in the human S2P gene as the cause of ichthyosis follicularis, alopecia, and photophobia (IFAP) syndrome. This is a rare X-linked genetic disorder [52]. Accordingly, males are more frequently affected than females. The hypomorphic mutant allele is typically recessive to the wild-type allele in females. However, some female carriers are symptomatic owing to skewed X chromosome-inactivation of the wild-type allele [52,53]. Afflicted individuals are typically hairless from birth and frequently present with neurological defects along with the light-sensitivity and follicular abnormalities from which its name derives. Hypomorphic mutations in S2P are also associated with a similar syndrome, keratosis follicularis spinulosa decalvans (KFSD) [53]. These somewhat distinct clinical presentations share the same underlying biochemical deficit: insufficient S2P activity. It remains unclear whether the observed clinical phenotypes result from misregulation of lipid metabolism or of the unfolded protein response. Possibly, they arise from some as-yet unidentified role(s) for S2P in humans. It is interesting that in the human mutations identified, at least some S2P function is retained [52,53]. No null mutations of S2P have been reported in vertebrates. This is consistent with the prediction that S2P is an essential gene, as in cultured mammalian cells. An essential role for S2P may be specifically owing to its role in cholesterol homeostasis, since in cultured cells, exogenous lipid fully restores normal growth [40,54].

5.4. When S2P is dispensable

The situation is different for invertebrates. In *Drosophila melanogaster*, which, like the majority of metazoan species, cannot synthesize cholesterol *de novo*, the SREBP gene is essential. In its absence, flies require exogenous fatty acids to survive [55]. By contrast, the *Drosophila* S2P gene is dispensable under laboratory culture conditions [56]. This is true even though S2P cleaves SREBP in flies. Flies homozygous for deletion of the S2P gene are readily recovered as adults and may be maintained as stable populations. These S2P-null mutants exhibit somewhat delayed growth in comparison to their heterozygous siblings but are otherwise similar to them. They do not display severe phenotypes as seen in human patients [56].

Fig. 3 shows immunoblots of proteins extracted from adult flies that have been deprived of food to induce cleavage of SREBP (Fig. 3, lane 1, middle panel). Unlike heterozygotes (lane 3, middle panel), flies homozygous for loss of S2P show a profound deficit in nuclear

accumulation of dSREBP (lane 4, middle panel). Instead, the intermediate form (I), which is the product of S1P cleavage, accumulates in their membranes (lane 4, upper panel). This is just what is observed in S2P⁻ mammalian cells [34]. Thus, while exhibiting the same defect in SREBP processing as mammalian cells, flies lacking S2P are viable and fertile. Flies lacking S2P survive because SREBP is also a substrate of the caspase Drice [57]. This alternative processing of SREBP is sufficient to compensate significantly for the loss of S2P. Flies harboring null mutations in both S2P and Drice exhibit the same phenotypes as flies lacking dSREBP. These animals survive on medium supplemented with fatty acids [57]. In mammals, both SREBP-1 and -2 are substrates for caspases-3 and -7 [58,59]. The normal physiological role of caspase cleavage of SREBP is known neither for vertebrates nor invertebrates.

6. Conclusions

All substrates known for S2P are membrane-bound transcription factors with type 2 membrane-spanning helices. These factors only become substrates for S2P once another, more conventional, protease cleaves the precursor form. Cleavage by S2P then releases a cytoplasmic domain that travels to the nucleus to mediate the increased transcription of target genes.

S2P is essential in mammalian cells owing to its role in the production and uptake of unsaturated fatty acids and cholesterol. It is almost certainly essential in humans as well. Strikingly, it is dispensable in fruit flies under laboratory conditions. This latter finding suggests that any role for S2P in activating transcription factors in other signaling pathways of *Drosophila* is not essential.

S2P is an exceptionally hydrophobic metalloprotease of the Golgi apparatus. Although it was the first such enzyme discovered, more is known about the mechanism of action of rhomboid family of intramembrane serine proteases and S2P homologs from prokaryotes. This may be due to the difficulty of simultaneously solubilizing a membrane-embedded protease and its membrane-embedded substrate,



Fig. 3. *Drosophila melanogaster* mutants harboring a deletion of the S2P gene are viable and exhibit the same defect in SREBP processing as mutant mammalian cells. Flies were raised, proteins extracted, and immunoblots analysis performed as described [56,67], using monoclonal antibody 3B2 against the amino terminal domain of dSREBP [16]. P, the ~120 kDa precursor form of SREBP. I, the membrane-bound intermediate form. N, the ~70 kDa nuclear form. Anti-dScap [67] is shown as a loading control for membrane fractions.

although this challenge has been overcome for other I-CLiPs. It will be interesting to see if this can be done for S2P from animals.

Acknowledgements

The work described here was done while the author was a member of the Department of Molecular Genetics at the University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas. It was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (HL20948 and R01 GM07145701A1) and the Perot Family Foundation. The author wishes to thank his former colleagues in the Rawson lab and the Department of Molecular Genetics for many exciting years of discovery.

References

- M.S. Brown, J. Ye, R.B. Rawson, J.L. Goldstein, Regulated intramembrane proteolysis: a control mechanism conserved from bacteria to humans, Cell 100 (4) (2000) 391–398.
- [2] M.S. Wolfe, J. De Los Angeles, D.D. Miller, W. Xia, D.J. Selkoe, Are presenilins intramembrane-cleaving proteases? Implications for the molecular mechanism of Alzheimer's disease, Biochemistry 38 (35) (1999) 11223–11230.
- [3] R.B. Rawson, N.G. Zelenski, D. Nijhawan, J. Ye, J. Sakai, M.T. Hasan, T.Y. Chang, M.S. Brown, J.L. Goldstein, Complementation cloning of S2P, a gene encoding a putative metalloprotease required for intramembrane cleavage of SREBPs, Mol. Cell 1 (1) (1997) 47–57.
- [4] P.J. Espenshade, A.L. Hughes, Regulation of sterol synthesis in eukaryotes, Annu. Rev. Genet. 41 (2007) 401–427.
- [5] R.B. Rawson, W.P. Li, The site-2 protease at Ten, in: N.M. Hooper, U. Lendeckel (Eds.), Intramembrane-Cleaving Proteases (I-CLiPs), Springer, Dordrecht, 2007, pp. 1–16.
- [6] M.T. Hasan, C.C. Chang, T.Y. Chang, Somatic cell genetic and biochemical characterization of cell lines resulting from human genomic DNA transfections of Chinese hamster ovary cell mutants defective in sterol-dependent activation of sterol synthesis and LDL receptor expression, Somat. Cell Mol. Genet. 20 (3) (1994) 183–194.
- [7] N.D. Rawlings, A.J. Barrett, Evolutionary families of metallopeptidases, Methods Enzymol. 248 (1995) 183–228.
- [8] N.G. Zelenski, R.B. Rawson, M.S. Brown, J.L. Goldstein, Membrane topology of S2P, a protein required for intramembranous cleavage of sterol regulatory element-binding proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (31) (1999) 21973–21980.
- [9] D.Z. Rudner, P. Fawcett, R. Losick, A family of membrane-embedded metalloproteases involved in regulated proteolysis of membrane-associated transcription factors, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (26) (1999) 14765–14770.
- [10] L. Feng, H. Yan, Z. Wu, N. Yan, Z. Wang, P.D. Jeffrey, Y. Shi, Structure of a site-2 protease family intramembrane metalloprotease, Science 318 (5856) (2007) 1608–1612.
- [11] R. Zhou, C. Cusumano, D. Sui, R.M. Garavito, L. Kroos, Intramembrane proteolytic cleavage of a membrane-tethered transcription factor by a metalloprotease depends on ATP, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (38) (2009) 16174–16179.
- [12] L.N. Kinch, K. Ginalski, N.V. Grishin, Site-2 protease regulated intramembrane proteolysis: sequence homologs suggest an ancient signaling cascade, Protein Sci. 15 (1) (2006) 84–93.
- [13] P.J. Espenshade, D. Cheng, J.L. Goldstein, M.S. Brown, Autocatalytic processing of site-1 protease removes propeptide and permits cleavage of sterol regulatory element-binding proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (32) (1999) 22795–22804.
- [14] R.A. DeBose-Boyd, M.S. Brown, W.P. Li, A. Nohturfft, J.L. Goldstein, P.J. Espenshade, Transport-dependent proteolysis of SREBP: relocation of site-1 protease from Golgi to ER obviates the need for SREBP transport to Golgi, Cell 99 (7) (1999) 703–712.
- [15] J. Shen, R. Prywes, Dependence of site-2 protease cleavage of ATF6 on prior site-1 protease digestion is determined by the size of the luminal domain of ATF6, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (41) (2004) 43046–43051.
- [16] A.C. Seegmiller, I. Dobrosotskaya, J.L. Goldstein, Y.K. Ho, M.S. Brown, R.B. Rawson, The SREBP pathway in *Drosophila*: regulation by palmitate, not sterols, Dev. Cell 2 (2) (2002) 229–238.
- [17] K. Inaba, M. Suzuki, K. Maegawa, S. Akiyama, K. Ito, Y. Akiyama, A pair of circularly permutated PDZ domains control RseP, the S2P family intramembrane protease of *Escherichia coli*, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (50) (2008) 35042–35052.
- [18] J. Ye, U.P. Dave, N.V. Grishin, J.L. Goldstein, M.S. Brown, Asparagine–proline sequence within membrane-spanning segment of SREBP triggers intramembrane cleavage by site-2 protease, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (10) (2000) 5123–5128.
- [19] M.K. Lemberg, B. Martoglio, Requirements for signal peptide peptidase-catalyzed intramembrane proteolysis, Mol. Cell 10 (4) (2002) 735–744.
- [20] S. Urban, M. Freeman, Substrate specificity of rhomboid intramembrane proteases is governed by helix-breaking residues in the substrate transmembrane domain, Mol. Cell 11 (6) (2003) 1425–1434.
- [21] M. Paetzel, N.C. Strynadka, Common protein architecture and binding sites in proteases utilizing a Ser/Lys dyad mechanism, Protein Sci. 8 (11) (1999) 2533–2536.
- [22] Y. Wang, Y. Zhang, Y. Ha, Crystal structure of a rhomboid family intramembrane protease, Nature 444 (7116) (2006) 179–180.
- [23] M.J. Lemieux, S.J. Fischer, M.M. Cherney, K.S. Bateman, M.N. James, The crystal structure of the rhomboid peptidase from *Haemophilus influenzae* provides insight into intramembrane proteolysis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 (3) (2007) 750–754.

- [24] Y. Ha, Structure and mechanism of intramembrane protease, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 20 (2) (2009) 240–250.
- [25] B. Bolter, A. Nada, H. Fulgosi, J. Soll, A chloroplastic inner envelope membrane protease is essential for plant development, FEBS Lett. 580 (3) (2006) 789–794.
- [26] P.J. Seo, S.G. Kim, C.M. Park, Membrane-bound transcription factors in plants, Trends Plant Sci. 13 (10) (2008) 550–556.
- [27] C.M. Bien, Y.C. Chang, W.D. Nes, K.J. Kwon-Chung, P.J. Espenshade, *Cryptococcus neoformans* Site-2 protease is required for virulence and survival in the presence of azole drugs, Mol. Microbiol. 74 (3) (2009) 672–690.
- [28] J. Ye, R.B. Rawson, R. Komuro, X. Chen, U.P. Dave, R. Prywes, M.S. Brown, J.L. Goldstein, ER stress induces cleavage of membrane-bound ATF6 by the same proteases that process SREBPs, Mol. Cell 6 (6) (2000) 1355–1364.
- [29] K. Zhang, X. Shen, J. Wu, K. Sakaki, T. Saunders, D.T. Rutkowski, S.H. Back, R.J. Kaufman, Endoplasmic reticulum stress activates cleavage of CREBH to induce a systemic inflammatory response, Cell 124 (3) (2006) 587–599.
- [30] J.D. Horton, N.A. Shah, J.A. Warrington, N.N. Anderson, S.W. Park, M.S. Brown, J.L. Goldstein, Combined analysis of oligonucleotide microarray data from transgenic and knockout mice identifies direct SREBP target genes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (21) (2003) 12027–12032.
- [31] A. Radhakrishnan, J.L. Goldstein, J.G. McDonald, M.S. Brown, Switch-like control of SREBP-2 transport triggered by small changes in ER cholesterol: a delicate balance, Cell Metab. 8 (6) (2008) 512–521.
- [32] J. Sakai, R.B. Rawson, P.J. Espenshade, D. Cheng, A.C. Seegmiller, J.L. Goldstein, M.S. Brown, Molecular identification of the sterol-regulated luminal protease that cleaves SREBPs and controls lipid composition of animal cells, Mol. Cell 2 (4) (1998) 505–514.
- [33] N.G. Seidah, S.J. Mowla, J. Hamelin, A.M. Mamarbachi, S. Benjannet, B.B. Toure, A. Basak, J.S. Munzer, J. Marcinkiewicz, M. Zhong, J.C. Barale, C. Lazure, R.A. Murphy, M. Chretien, M. Marcinkiewicz, Mammalian subtilisin/kexin isozyme SKI-1: a widely expressed proprotein convertase with a unique cleavage specificity and cellular localization, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (4) (1999) 1321–1326.
- [34] J. Sakai, E.A. Duncan, R.B. Rawson, X. Hua, M.S. Brown, J.L. Goldstein, Sterol-regulated release of SREBP-2 from cell membranes requires two sequential cleavages, one within a transmembrane segment, Cell 85 (7) (1996) 1037–1046.
- [35] E.A. Duncan, M.S. Brown, J.L. Goldstein, J. Sakai, Cleavage site for sterol-regulated protease localized to a leu-Ser bond in the lumenal loop of sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (19) (1997) 12778–12785.
- [36] X. Wang, R. Sato, M.S. Brown, X. Hua, J.L. Goldstein, SREBP-1, a membrane-bound transcription factor released by sterol-regulated proteolysis, Cell 77 (1) (1994) 53–62.
- [37] R. Schoenheimer, F. Breusch, Synthesis and destruction of cholesterol in the organism, J. Biol. Chem. 103 (1933) 439–448.
- [38] M.T. Hasan, T.Y. Chang, Somatic cell genetic analysis of two classes of CHO cell mutants expressing opposite phenotypes in sterol-dependent regulation of cholesterol metabolism, Somat. Cell Mol. Genet. 20 (6) (1994) 481–491.
- [39] J.S. Limanek, J. Chin, T.Y. Chang, Mammalian cell mutant requiring cholesterol and unsaturated fatty acid for growth, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 75 (11) (1978) 5452–5456.
- [40] M.J. Evans, J.E. Metherall, Loss of transcriptional activation of three sterol-regulated genes in mutant hamster cells, Mol. Cell. Biol. 13 (9) (1993) 5175–5185.
- [41] T.Y. Chang, P.R. Vagelos, Isolation and characterization of an unsaturated fatty acid-requiring mutant of cultured mammalian cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 73 (1) (1976) 24–28.
- [42] K. Haze, H. Yoshida, H. Yanagi, T. Yura, K. Mori, Mammalian transcription factor ATF6 is synthesized as a transmembrane protein and activated by proteolysis in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress, Mol. Biol. Cell 10 (11) (1999) 3787–3799.
- [43] C. Hetz, F. Martinon, D. Rodriguez, L.H. Glimcher, The unfolded protein response: integrating stress signals through the stress sensor IRE1α, Physiol. Rev. 91 (4) (2011) 1219–1243.
- [44] J. Shen, E.L. Snapp, J. Lippincott-Schwartz, R. Prywes, Stable binding of ATF6 to BiP in the endoplasmic reticulum stress response, Mol. Cell. Biol. 25 (3) (2005) 921–932.
- [45] S. Kondo, A. Saito, S. Hino, T. Murakami, M. Ogata, S. Kanemoto, S. Nara, A. Yamashita, K. Yoshinaga, H. Hara, K. Imaizumi, BBF2H7, a novel transmembrane bZIP transcription factor, is a new type of endoplasmic reticulum stress transducer, Mol. Cell. Biol. 27 (5) (2007) 1716–1729.
- [46] S. Kondo, A. Saito, R. Asada, S. Kanemoto, K. Imaizumi, Physiological unfolded protein response regulated by OASIS family members, transmembrane bZIP transcription factors, IUBMB Life 63 (4) (2011) 233–239.
- [47] M.W. Lee, D. Chanda, J. Yang, H. Oh, S.S. Kim, Y.S. Yoon, S. Hong, K.G. Park, I.K. Lee, C.S. Choi, R.W. Hanson, H.S. Choi, S.H. Koo, Regulation of hepatic gluconeogenesis by an ER-bound transcription factor, CREBH, Cell Metab. 11 (4) (2010) 331–339.
- [48] D. Bailey, C. Barreca, P. O'Hare, Trafficking of the bZIP transmembrane transcription factor CREB-H into alternate pathways of ERAD and stress-regulated intramembrane proteolysis, Traffic 8 (12) (2007) 1796–1814.
- [49] D. Eleveld-Trancikova, A. Sanecka, M.A. van Hout-Kuijer, M.W. Looman, I.A. Hendriks, B.J. Jansen, G.J. Adema, DC-STAMP interacts with ER-resident transcription factor LUMAN which becomes activated during DC maturation, Mol. Immunol. 47 (11–12) (2010) 1963–1973.
- [50] T. Murakami, S. Kondo, M. Ogata, S. Kanemoto, A. Saito, A. Wanaka, K. Imaizumi, Cleavage of the membrane-bound transcription factor OASIS in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress, J. Neurochem. 96 (4) (2006) 1090–1100.
- [51] T. Murakami, A. Saito, S. Hino, S. Kondo, S. Kanemoto, K. Chihara, H. Sekiya, K. Tsumagari, K. Ochiai, K. Yoshinaga, M. Saitoh, R. Nishimura, T. Yoneda, I. Kou, T.

Furuichi, S. Ikegawa, M. Ikawa, M. Okabe, A. Wanaka, K. Imaizumi, Signalling mediated by the endoplasmic reticulum stress transducer OASIS is involved in bone formation, Nat. Cell Biol. 11 (10) (2009) 1205–1211.

- [52] F. Oeffner, G. Fischer, R. Happle, A. Konig, R.C. Betz, D. Bornholdt, U. Neidel, C. Boente Mdel, S. Redler, J. Romero-Gomez, A. Salhi, A. Vera-Casano, C. Weirich, K.H. Grzeschik, IFAP syndrome is caused by deficiency in MBTPS2, an intramembrane zinc metalloprotease essential for cholesterol homeostasis and ER stress response, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 84 (4) (2009) 459–467.
- [53] E. Aten, L.C. Brasz, D. Bornholdt, I.B. Hooijkaas, M.E. Porteous, V.P. Sybert, M.H. Vermeer, R.H. Vossen, M.J. van der Wielen, E. Bakker, M.H. Breuning, K.H. Grzeschik, J.C. Oosterwijk, J.T. den Dunnen, Keratosis follicularis spinulosa decalvans is caused by mutations in MBTPS2, Hum. Mutat. 31 (10) (2010) 1125–1133.
- [54] F. Xu, S.D. Rychnovsky, J.D. Belani, H.H. Hobbs, J.C. Cohen, R.B. Rawson, Dual roles for cholesterol in mammalian cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (41) (2005) 14551–14556.
- [55] A.S. Kunte, K.A. Matthews, R.B. Rawson, Fatty acid auxotrophy in Drosophila larvae lacking SREBP, Cell Metab. 3 (6) (2006) 439–448.
- [56] K.A. Matthews, A.S. Kunte, E. Tambe-Ebot, R.B. Rawson, Alternative processing of sterol regulatory element binding protein during larval development in *Drosophila melanogaster*, Genetics 181 (1) (2009) 119–128.
- [57] B. Amarneh, K.A. Matthews, R.B. Rawson, Activation of sterol regulatory elementbinding protein by the caspase Drice in *Drosophila* larvae, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (15) (2009) 9674–9682.
- [58] X. Wang, J.T. Pai, E.A. Wiedenfeld, J.C. Medina, C.A. Slaughter, J.L. Goldstein, M.S. Brown, Purification of an interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme-related cysteine protease that cleaves sterol regulatory element-binding proteins between the leucine zipper and transmembrane domains, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (30) (1995) 18044–18050.

- [59] J.T. Pai, M.S. Brown, J.L. Goldstein, Purification and cDNA cloning of a second apoptosis-related cysteine protease that cleaves and activates sterol regulatory element binding proteins, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93 (11) (1996) 5437–5442.
- [60] C. Raggo, N. Rapin, J. Stirling, P. Gobeil, E. Smith-Windsor, P. O'Hare, V. Misra, Luman, the cellular counterpart of herpes simplex virus VP16, is processed by regulated intramembrane proteolysis, Mol. Cell. Biol. 22 (16) (2002) 5639–5649.
- [61] W.O. Lui, L. Zeng, V. Rehrmann, S. Deshpande, M. Tretiakova, E.L. Kaplan, I. Leibiger, B. Leibiger, U. Enberg, A. Hoog, C. Larsson, T.G. Kroll, CREB3L2-PPARgamma fusion mutation identifies a thyroid signaling pathway regulated by intramembrane proteolysis, Cancer Res. 68 (17) (2008) 7156–7164.
- [62] J. Stirling, P. O'Hare, CREB4, a transmembrane bZip transcription factor and potential new substrate for regulation and cleavage by S1P, Mol. Biol. Cell 17 (1) (2006) 413–426.
- [63] S. Ben Aicha, J. Lessard, M. Pelletier, A. Fournier, E. Calvo, C. Labrie, Transcriptional profiling of genes that are regulated by the endoplasmic reticulumbound transcription factor AlbZIP/CREB3L4 in prostate cells, Physiol. Genomics 31 (2) (2007) 295–305.
- [64] M. Freeman, Rhomboids: 7 years of a new protease family, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 20 (2) (2009) 231–239.
- [65] S. Urban, S.W. Dickey, The rhomboid protease family: a decade of progress on function and mechanism, Genome Biol. 12 (10) (2011) 231–241.
- [66] V.C. Hannah, J. Ou, A. Luong, J.L. Goldstein, M.S. Brown, Unsaturated fatty acids down-regulate srebp isoforms 1a and 1c by two mechanisms in HEK-293 cells, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (6) (2001) 4365–4372.
- [67] K.A. Matthews, C. Ozdemir, R.B. Rawson, Activation of sterol regulatory element binding proteins in the absence of Scap in *Drosophila melanogaster*, Genetics 185 (1) (2010) 189–198.